
Agenda Item 3 



Page 1 of 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

STATE OF NEVADA 
COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
http://ethics.nv.gov 

 
MINUTES 

of the meeting of the 
PERSONNEL SUBCOMMITTEE OF  

THE NEVADA COMMISSION ON ETHICS 
 

The Commission on Ethics held a public meeting on 
Wednesday, April 19, 2023, at 12:00 p.m. 

at the following location: 
 

State Bar of Nevada 
3100 West Charleston Boulevard, Suite 100 

Las Vegas, NV 89102 
 

Zoom Meeting Information 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84205495222?pwd=RXVLeEFLeFdaR0lDS3RvT3dRZjZjQT09 

Zoom Meeting Telephone Number: 720-707-2699 
Meeting ID: 842 0549 5222 

Passcode: 124668 
 
These minutes constitute a summary of the above proceedings of the Nevada 

Commission on Ethics. A recording of the meeting is available for public inspection at the 
Commission’s office. 

 
1.  Call to Order and Roll Call. 
 

 Chair Kim Wallin, CPA, CMA, CFM appeared in-person at the State Bar of Nevada in Las 
Vegas and called the meeting to order at 12:00 p.m. Also appearing in-person were Vice-Chair 
Brian Duffrin and Commissioner James Oscarson. Present for Commission staff in Las Vegas 
were Executive Director Ross E. Armstrong, Esq., and Executive Assistant Kari Pedroza. Deputy 
Attorney General Laena St-Jules, Esq. also appeared in person in Las Vegas.  
 

2.  Public Comment.  
 
There was no public comment. 

 
3. Interviews and consideration of candidates for the Commission Counsel position, and 

possible referral to the Commission potential candidates for the Commission Counsel 

position. Under NRS 241.020(2)(d)(4), the Commission may consider the character and 

professional competence of the following candidates for the Commission Counsel position: 

1.) Oscar Peralta 

2.) Stephen Titzer  

3.) Michael Matuska 
 

NOTE: It is anticipated that the Subcommittee may take one or more breaks during this 
Item to allow Staff to prepare requested documents and for other matters, at the 
discretion of the Chair. 

 

http://ethics.nv.gov/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84205495222?pwd=RXVLeEFLeFdaR0lDS3RvT3dRZjZjQT09


 

 
Page 2 of 2 

 

Chair Wallin introduced the agenda item, outlined the interview process, and stated that 
the Personnel Subcommittee would be interviewing 2 applicants for the Commission Counsel 
position as Mr. Titzer withdrew his application following the agenda posting. She explained that 
upon completion of the interviews, the Subcommittee would deliberate and determine whether it 
would refer either or both candidates to the full Commission for final interviews.  
 

The Personnel Subcommittee then interviewed each candidate in the following order: 
Oscar Peralta and Michael Matuska.  
 
 Chair Wallin expressed her gratitude to each of the applicants. Her fellow Subcommittee 
members echoed her comments.  
 
 The Personnel Subcommittee members discussed the merits of each candidate and the 
options of continuing with accepting applications for the position or referring one or both 
interviewees to the full Commission for final interviews.  
 
 Vice-Chair moved to table the referral of either candidate to the full Commission for final 
interviews and continue accepting applications for the position. Commissioner Oscarson 
seconded the motion and noted that the motion in no way was a reflection on the quality of or 
intended to be disparaging to the interviewees. The Motion was put to a vote and carried 
unanimously.  

 
4. Public Comment. 
 

There was no public comment.  
 

5. Adjournment. 
 
Vice-Chair Duffrin made a motion to adjourn the public meeting. Commissioner Oscarson 

seconded the motion. The Motion was put to a vote and carried unanimously. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 3:21 p.m. 

 
Minutes prepared by:     Minutes approved May 17, 2023: 
 
/s/ Kari Pedroza  ________________________________ 
Kari Pedroza  Kim Wallin, CPA, CMA, CFM 
Executive Assistant      Chair 
 
/s/ Ross Armstrong  ________________________________ 
Ross Armstrong, Esq.   Brian Duffrin 
Executive Director   Vice-Chair   



Agenda Item 4



Brandi Jensen

Commission Counsel 
Submission











Jill Greiner

Commission Counsel 
Submission











Chris Davis

Commission Counsel 
Submission



Chris Davis, Esq. Page 1 of 2 

       

April 26, 2023 

Kim Wallin 
Chair of the Nevada Ethics Commission 
704 W. Nye Lane, Suite 204 
Carson City, Nevada 89703 

Dear Ms. Wallin, 

I deem it a privilege to apply for the position of Ethics Commission Counsel, which I found posted on 
nvjobs.nv.gov.  As the majority of my career as an attorney has been devoted to public service,  I would 
welcome the opportunity to further serve the citizens of State of  Nevada. 

Currently, I  serve as a Senior Deputy Attorney General for the State of Nevada, representing the Public 
Safety Division.  I am responsible for providing legal advice to the Nevada Department of Corrections 
and defending the Department against federal civil rights actions.  I took the position at this stage in my 
career because of my desire to return to public service, and to serve as a mentor to the younger attorneys 
in our department.  As Senior Deputy Attorney General, I have further developed my skills as an effective 
manager which should serve me well as Commission Counsel.   

While I have had many rewarding and challenging opportunity throughout my career, serving as an 
Attorney Law Clerk for both the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals and the United States District Court was 
a defining point in my career.  My six years working for the federal courts has provided me with extensive 
experience in hearing arguments and drafting opinions with findings of fact and conclusions of law.  I 
have been repeatedly praised for my writing ability and my ability to correctly analyze complex issues, 
including those involving ethics.  

Previously, I served as Associate General Counsel for the Sahara Las Vegas.  When the Meruelo Group 
purchased the Sahara, they offered me the position to serve as the only attorney at the property.  I 
functionally served as general counsel for the property by providing strategic and proactive legal advice 
on every issue faced by management of the new enterprise.  I advised the Sahara on gaming compliance, 
human resource operations, proper security procedures, construction issues, and contract negotiations, just 
to name a few.  I also served as the primary litigator for the Sahara, along with supervising outside counsel. 
My experience at the Sahara will be invaluable to the Ethics Commission as I was required to provide 
advice on how to navigate the strict and complex regulations faced by Nevada casinos, which are at least 
as intricate as those faced by the Ethics Commission. 

I was offered the position at the Sahara because the Meruelo Group was my client when working at the 
firm Cohen|Johnson|Parker|Edwards.  The Group was intimately familiar with my abilities as I had just 
prevented class certification of a multi-million-dollar wage complaint against the Grand Sierra Resort, 
one of the premier hotels in Reno owned by the Meruelo Group. While at Cohen Johnson, I litigated 
complex civil and appellate matters before Nevada and federal courts. 



Chris Davis, Esq.        Page 2 of 2 

       
 
I also served as a Deputy City Attorney for the City of North Las Vegas.  I performed many of the 
important functions the Ethics Commission is seeking from Commission Counsel including advising the 
City Council on important legal and policy issues, representing the City as a member on intergovernmental 
commissions, managing the City’s litigation, and negotiating contracts critical to the operation of the City, 
with private and other government entities.  My duties also included defending police officers against civil 
rights action, and the City in employment discrimination matters. One of my proudest accomplishments 
was developing a strategy for successfully arguing that the Nevada's Notice of Claim Statute was still in 
force despite Nevada Supreme Court precedent finding the statute to be unconstitutional. This strategy 
allowed the City of North Las Vegas to avoid meritless claims with minimal expense.  
  
My commitment to public service has continued even while pursuing private practice.  I have served as a 
member of the Functional Equivalency Committee for the Nevada State Bar. As a committee member, I 
take part in hearings to determine whether applicants to the Nevada State Bar, that have not graduated 
from ABA accredited law schools, have an education that is functionally equivalent to an ABA law school 
education.  Part of my responsibility is to draft recommendations to the Nevada Supreme Court as to the 
merit of the applicants' petitions, which routinely involves ethical considerations. My unique experience 
should prove to be an asset to the Ethics Commission. 
 
During my career, I have had the opportunity to associate and learn from the best.  In addition to the 
Honorable Johnnie B. Rawlinson, I served with the Honorable Lloyd D. George, and the Honorable Kris 
Pickering, prior to her becoming a justice with the Nevada Supreme Court.  Throughout my life and career, 
I have always endeavored to uphold the highest principles of ethics and integrity.  I  have been  consistently 
tasked with the most difficult cases involving many of the issues that will be faced by Commission 
Counsel.  I urge you to contact any of my previous employers, who will provide you with an accurate 
assessment of my legal abilities.     
 
My experience and commitment to public service has provided me with the right qualifications to be 
successful as Commission Counsel.  Please contact me if you need any additional information.   
 
Sincerely, 

Chris Davis, Esq. 



Chris Davis, Esq.       Page 1 of 4 

       
 

  
 Education B. A., Political Science, Brigham Young University, Provo, Utah, August 1992. 
    
  Juris Doctor, University of Utah College of Law, Salt Lake City, Utah, May 1995. 
   •  Class Rank: Top 25% 
   •  William H. Leary Scholar 
 
 Affiliations Utah State Bar, admitted October 1995; State Bar of Nevada, admitted October 1998. 
 
 Attorney September 2021 - Present 
 General Senior Deputy Attorney General – Office of the Nevada Attorney General, Las Vegas, Nevada. 
 Experience • Responsible for representing the Nevada Department of Corrections in state and federal 

courts.  Previously represented State of Nevada in post-conviction proceedings.  
  • Primary duties include analyzing pleadings, preparing legal strategy, drafting legal briefs, 

legal research, and presenting oral argument in state and federal trial and appellate courts.  
  • Serves as a mentor for other attorneys in the Public Safety Division of the Office of the 

Nevada Attorney General.  
  • Reviews and analyzes policies of Nevada Department of Corrections as necessary to 

respond to inmate litigation.  
 
 Court September 2020 – September 2021 
 Experience Attorney Law Clerk - Honorable Johnnie B. Rawlinson, United States Court of Appeals for 

the Ninth Circuit, Las Vegas, Nevada. 
  • Assisted Judge Rawlinson with all phases of civil and criminal appellate litigation by 

evaluating case files, researching applicable law, interpreting constitutional and statutory 
provisions including criminal and habeas statutes, writing memoranda, making 
recommendations, and preparing court orders and opinions. 

  • Reviewed and made recommendations on death penalty cases and cases heard en banc. 
  
 General April 2018 - September 2020 
 Counsel Associate General Counsel - Las Vegas Resort Holdings, LLC dba Sahara Las Vegas, Las 
 Experience  Vegas, Nevada. 
  • As the only attorney on property, functionally served as general counsel by providing 

strategic and proactive legal advice on every issue faced by the Sahara Las Vegas. 
  • Served as primary litigator and appellate counsel, and personally litigated cases involving 

the Internet Tax Freedom Act, Covid regulations, Las Vegas Monorail covenants, 
employment discrimination, intellectual property infringement, along with various 
personal injury and contract disputes. 

  • Advised management on gaming compliance, human resource operations, proper security 
procedures, construction issues, and contract negotiations. 

  • Supervised outside counsel. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Chris Davis, Esq.       Page 2 of 4 

       
 

  March 2015 - April 2018 
  Attorney - Cohen|Johnson|Parker|Edwards, Las Vegas, Nevada 
  • Civil and Appellate practice before Nevada and United States Courts focusing on complex 

commercial litigation. 
  • Defended employers in wage, employment and discrimination matters. 
  • Litigated civil rights actions. 
  • Served as an arbitrator and short trial judge. 
 
  July 2012 - March 2015 
  Chris Davis, Esq. - Las Vegas, Nevada. 
  • Litigation and Appellate practice before Nevada and United States Courts. 
  • Represented clients in criminal and habeas appeals. 
  • Served as an arbitrator and short trial judge.  
   
 City Attorney March 2006 - July 2012 
 Experience Deputy City Attorney - City of North Las Vegas, Nevada. 
  • Senior litigator and appellate counsel for the City’s Civil Division. 
  • Advised the City Council on important legal and policy issues, including issues involving 

ethics, appropriate use of City funds, and Nevada’s Open Meeting Law.  
  • Represented the City during many important contract negotiations, including negotiating a 

new franchise agreement with Nevada Power Company. 
  • Represented the City when negotiating a new charter with the member agencies of the 

Southern Nevada Water Authority. 
  • Defended the City, its detention and corrections facility, and its police department in almost 

all civil rights actions involving 42 U.S.C. § 1983, discrimination action under Title VII, 
actions under the Americans with Disabilities Acts (“ADA”), and actions under the Age 
Discrimination in Employment Act (“ADEA”).  

  • Ultimately charged with litigating all employment cases under Nevada’s Local 
Government Employee-Management Relations Act before the Local Government 
Employee-Management Relations Board. 

  • Defended the City against almost all of the personal injury actions filed against the City. 
  • Supervised outside counsel in eminent domain cases brought against the City. 
  • Reviewed and managed all subpoenas served on the City, both civil and criminal. 
  • As the litigator with the most experience in the civil division, acted as a mentor to other 

attorneys in preparing and executing litigation strategy. 
 
  September 2002 - March 2006 
  Attorney - Morris Pickering, Las Vegas, Nevada. 
  • Civil and Appellate practice focusing on complex commercial litigation. 
  • Litigated multi-million dollar cases for clients that included Nevada Power Company, 

MGM Resorts International and Harrah’s Entertainment Inc. 
  • Worked closely with Steve Morris and Kris Pickering, now a justice with the Nevada 

Supreme Court. 
 
 
 
 



Chris Davis, Esq.       Page 3 of 4 

       
 

 Court September 1998 - September 2002 
 Experience Senior Attorney Law Clerk - Honorable Johnnie B. Rawlinson, United States Court of Appeals 

for the Ninth Circuit, Las Vegas, Nevada. 
  • Assisted Judge Rawlinson with all phases of civil and criminal litigation before the 

Appellate and District Courts. 
  • Served as a mentor to other law clerks which included assigning cases to law clerks, 

ensuring that assignments were timely completed, and by reviewing proposed opinions 
drafted by other law clerks before final review by Judge Rawlinson. 

  • Assisted with creating and implementing chamber policies and procedures on both the 
circuit and district court levels after Judge Rawlinson was newly appointed.  

  
  August 1997 - September 1998 
  Attorney Law Clerk - Honorable Lloyd D. George, United States District Court for the District 

of Nevada, Las Vegas, Nevada. 
  • Assisted Judge George with all phases of civil and criminal litigation for the District Court. 
  • Worked on a broad range of civil, criminal, and evidentiary issues brought before the 

District Court, which consistently required interpreting constitutional and statutory 
provisions including criminal and habeas statutes. 

  • Evaluated case files, researched applicable law, drafted memoranda, made  
recommendations, and prepared court orders. 

  
  December 1992 - August 1997 
  Attorney - McMurray, McMurray, Dale and Parkinson, in Salt Lake City, Utah. 
  • Civil and Appellate practice focusing on complex commercial litigation. 
  • Defended civil rights actions. 
   
 Volunteer October 2003 - Present 
 Experience Committee Member - Functional Equivalency Committee for the Nevada State Bar. 
  • Participates in hearings before the Committee and makes recommendations to the Nevada 

Supreme Court as to whether applicants to the Bar, that have not graduated from an ABA 
law school, have obtained an education that is the functional equivalent of an ABA 
education.  

 
  August 1997 - December 2019 
  Volunteer - Boy Scouts of America. 
  • Served in a broad range of positions from an assistant Bear Den Leader to the Chartered 

Organization Representative. 
 
 Personal Health excellent, age 62, height 6'3", weight 220 lbs., married.  Fluent in Spanish.  Eagle Scout. 



Chris Davis, Esq.       Page 4 of 4 

       
 

 References Aaron Ford 
  Nevada Attorney General 
  Office of the Attorney General 
   
   
   
 
  Honorable Johnnie B. Rawlinson 
  United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit 
   
   
   
 
  Honorable Kristina Pickering 
  Supreme Court of Nevada 
   
   
   
   
 
  Mario Tapanes 
  General Counsel 
  Meruelo Group LLC 
   
  
   
 
  Paul Hobson 
  General Manager  
  Sahara Las Vegas 
   
   
   
   
  Steve Cohen, Esq. 
  H. Stan Johnson, Esq. 
  Cohen & Johnson 
   
   
   
 




